

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

De Santis, Roberto A.; Anderton, Robert; Hijzen, Alexander

Working Paper On the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States: the knowledge- capital-Tobin's Q framework

ECB Working Paper, No. 329

Provided in Cooperation with: European Central Bank (ECB)

Suggested Citation: De Santis, Roberto A.; Anderton, Robert; Hijzen, Alexander (2004) : On the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States: the knowledge- capital-Tobin's Q framework, ECB Working Paper, No. 329, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/152763

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



WORKING PAPER SERIES NO. 329 / APRIL 2004

ON THE DETERMINANTS OF EURO AREA FDI TO THE UNITED STATES: THE KNOWLEDGE-CAPITAL-TOBIN'S Q FRAMEWORK

by Roberto A. De Santis, Robert Anderton and Alexander Hijzen



WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO. 329 / APRIL 2004

ON THE DETERMINANTS OF EURO AREA FDI TO THE UNITED STATES: THE KNOWLEDGE-CAPITAL-TOBIN'S Q FRAMEWORK'

> by Roberto A. De Santis², Robert Anderton³ and Alexander Hijzen⁴

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=526992.







publications will carry a motif taken from the €100 banknote.



European Central Bank, Kaiserstrasse 29, D-60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. E-mail: roberto.de_santis@ecb.int.
 3 European Central Bank and Professor, School of Economics, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom.
 E-mail: robert.anderton@ecb.int.

4 School of Economics, University of Nottingham, University Park, NG7 2RD Nottingham, United Kingdom, E-mail: alexander.hijzen@nottingham.ac.uk,

© European Central Bank, 2004

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and noncommercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract	4
Non-technical summary	5
1. Introduction	7
2. Foreign direct investment: Definitions and trends	10
3. A model of FDI with convex adjustmer costs	nt 3
4. Data, variables and econometric specification	18
4.1 Proxying Tobin's Q	18
4.2 Ownership and location advantage variables	20
4.3 The real exchange rate	22
4.4 Control variables	23
4.5 The empirical specification	24
5. Empirical results	24
6. Conclusions	32
References	35
Figures and tables	38
Data appendix	45
European Central Bank working paper series	47



2

Abstract: The long-run determinants of euro area FDI to the United States during the period 1980-2001 are explained by employing the Tobin's Q-model of investment. By using the fixed effects panel estimator, stock market developments in the euro area countries – including a measure adjusted for economic developments common to both the United States and the euro area - are found to influence euro area FDI to the United States. Moreover, the inclusion of the Tobin's Q enhances the traditional knowledge-capital framework specification. Overall, the empirical findings suggest that euro area patents (ownership advantage), various variables related to productivity in the United States (location advantage), the volume of bilateral telephone traffic to the United States relative to euro area GDP (ownership advantage), euro area stock market developments (Tobin's Q), and the real exchange rate are statistically significant determinants of euro area FDI to the United States.

JEL Classification Codes: F21, F23.

Key words: Euro area, Foreign Direct Investment, Multinational firms, Tobin's Q.



Non-Technical Summary

Global foreign direct investment (FDI) flows skyrocketed in the 1990s from USD 209 billion in 1990 to USD 1393 billion in 2000 to decline to USD 651 billion in 2002. Meanwhile, world FDI stocks generated sales by foreign affiliates of around USD 18 trillion, compared with global exports of USD 8 trillion in 2002. Employment by foreign affiliates reached an estimated 53 million workers in 2002, which is three times the number recorded in 1982. Most FDI occurs between developed countries, for example: FDI stocks are concentrated in the European Union and the United States, accounting for 72% of the total world outward stock and 56% of the total world inward stock in 2002. Traditionally, the United States has been one of the largest recipients of FDI accounting for 19% of the world inward stock in 2002, particularly from the euro area. In view of these developments, investigating the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States constitutes an important and interesting undertaking.

The present paper derives FDI from an intertemporal maximisation problem faced by the multinational firm. In other words, it adopts an investment-based approach à la Tobin (Tobin, 1969) with convex adjustment costs. Tobin's Q theory suggests that if the market value of a firm over its book value is greater than one - implying the existence of "intangibles" such as brands, reputation and knowledge or growth potential that business analysts and shareholders value - then the firm should increase its capital stock, as investing is profitable. The innovation in this paper is the interpretation that a rise in the capital stock can take the form of both domestic investment and investment abroad (i.e., mergers and acquisitions or "green field" investment). As a result, a rise in the euro area stock market (our proxy for euro area Tobin's Q) should lead to an increase in euro area outward FDI.

The theoretical model is evaluated empirically by using a panel of eight (or sometimes nine) euro area countries for the period 1980 to 2001. The results substantiate the theoretical predictions that the euro area stock market price is an important explanatory variable of euro area FDI to the United States.

The technology boom in the United States – and the desire of euro area firms to acquire the new technologies of US companies – seems to have been a key factor behind FDI outflows to the United States, particularly in the second-half of the 1990s. In order to understand more fully the importance of US-specific technology variables as a pull factor of euro area FDI, we separate the euro area stock market price into the US knowledge-capital element and the investment climate in the euro area. The traditional technology variables included in the knowledge-capital framework, such as US patents in high-tech sectors and US expenditure in manufacturing R&D, are statistically significant in explaining euro area FDI to the United States. However, the investment climate in the euro area enhances the traditional knowledge-capital framework specification by adding further explanatory power to the FDI equation.

A major benefit of finding the stock market term statistically significant is that it provides a data series which is available up to the current date. Therefore, it allows one to derive a better judgement of current and future movements in FDI given that other variables which explain FDI – such as patents and expenditure in R&D – are only available with a considerable lag. Indeed, the average stock price decline in the euro area in 2002 and 2003 has corresponded with the significant declines in euro area FDI outflows to the United States over the same period.

1. Introduction

Global foreign direct investment (FDI) flows skyrocketed in the 1990s from USD 209 billion in 1990 to USD 1393 billion in 2000 to decline to USD 651 billion in 2002. Meanwhile, world FDI stocks generated sales by foreign affiliates of around USD 18 trillion, compared with global exports of USD 8 trillion in 2002. Employment by foreign affiliates reached an estimated 53 million workers in 2002, which is three times the number recorded in 1982. Most FDI occurs between developed countries, for example: FDI stocks are concentrated in the European Union and the United States, accounting for 72% of the total world outward stock and 56% of the total world inward stock in 2002. Traditionally, the United States has been one of the largest recipients of FDI accounting for 19% of the world inward stock in 2002.¹

Also, euro area companies invested extensively in the United States. The share of euro area FDI to the United States relative to total FDI inflows in the United States, while characterised by a U-shape in the 1980s, was around 34% in both 1980 and 1990, but increased to 64% by 2001. The stock of euro area FDI in the United States in real terms in 2001 was around fourteen times as large as it was in 1980. However, most of this growth occurred in the second half of the 1990s, as the size of real euro area FDI outflows to the United States reached their peak in 2000, amounting to around ten times the magnitude of outflows in 1995. In view of these developments, investigating the determinants of euro area FDI in the United States constitutes an important and interesting undertaking.

The theoretical and empirical literature on FDI is generally based on the so-called OLI-framework proposed by Dunning (1977).² Dunning identifies three conditions that must be satisfied for there to be a strong incentive for a firm to engage in FDI. First, a firm must

¹ All the above facts are from UNCTAD (2003).

² OLI stands for *Ownership*, *Location* and *Internalisation* advantage.

have an *Ownership advantage* for a product or production process to which other firms do not have access (i.e., patent, blueprint, or trade secret).³ Second, the foreign country must offer a *Location advantage* such that goods can be produced or supplied more cheaply. More recently, stronger emphasis has been given to vertical location advantages which induce quality-seeking FDI or technological sourcing (see Kogut and Chang, 1991; Neven and Siotis, 1996; Fosfuri and Motta, 1999). Third, the multinational firm must have an *Internalisation advantage*, i.e. a strategic reason to exploit its ownership advantage internally rather than licensing or selling it to a foreign firm.

In the trade literature, the OLI-framework has been formalised in the so-called knowledge-capital models of multinational enterprises.⁴ Those models look at the FDI implications for market structure, welfare, the equilibrium number of national and multinational firms in a static framework, where FDI is generally exogenously specified as a fixed cost to set-up a plant abroad (Markusen and Venables, 1998; De Santis and Stähler, 2003). Similarly, the empirical studies based on these models generally develop predictions about affiliate production (Carr et al, 2001, Blonigen et al., 2003).

The present paper derives FDI from an intertemporal maximisation problem faced by the multinational firm. In other words, we adopt an investment-based approach à la Tobin (Tobin, 1969) with convex adjustment costs. We argue that Tobin's Q is particularly appropriate for modelling FDI because adjustment costs in international investment are likely to be much higher than for domestic investment. Jovanovic and Rousseau (2002), for example, show that the Q-theory of investment can be used to explain investment via mergers and acquisitions (M&A). They find that M&A investment, which is a sub-component of FDI, responds to stock market developments by more than direct investment. Similarly, Blonigen

³ For example, Barrell and Pain (1997) concentrate on the role of firm-specific assets in the form of technology.

⁴ For an overview see Markusen and Maskus (2001) and Markusen (2002).

(1997) finds that the Japanese stock market is an explanatory variable of Japanese FDI in the United States in the late 1980's and early 1990's.

The intuition behind our hypothesis that Tobin's Q can help to explain euro area outward FDI is as follows. Standard Q theory suggests that if the market value of a firm over its book value is greater than one - implying the existence of "intangibles" such as brands, reputation and knowledge or growth potential that business analysts and shareholders value - then the firm should increase its capital stock as investing is profitable. The innovation in this paper is the interpretation that a rise in the capital stock can take the form of domestic investment and of investment abroad (i.e., FDI in the form of both mergers and acquisitions and "green field" investment). As a result, a rise in the euro area stock market (our proxy for euro area Tobin's Q) should lead to an increase in euro area outward FDI as well as domestic investment.⁵

The theoretical model is evaluated empirically by using a panel of eight (or sometimes nine) euro area countries for the period 1980 to 2001. In line with the theoretical model, a dynamic partial adjustment model is specified and estimated using the least squares dummy variable (LSDV) estimator.

The empirical results provide support to the theoretical predictions, as the euro area stock market price turns out to be an important explanatory variable of euro area FDI to the United States.

The technology boom in the United States – and the desire of euro area firms to acquire the new technologies of US companies – seems to have been a key factor behind FDI outflows to the United States, particularly in the second-half of the 1990s. In order to

⁵ Generally, studies have found only weak evidence of a positive relationship between stock market valuation and domestic investment. More recently, however, Erickson and Whited (2000) and Bond and Cummins (2001) have re-examined this relationship, and claim that measurement error has reduced the statistical significance of Q in empirical work.

understand more fully the importance of US-specific technology variables as a pull factor of euro area FDI, we separate the euro area stock market price into the US knowledge-capital element and the investment climate in the euro area. The traditional technology variables included in the knowledge-capital framework, such as US patents in high-tech sectors and US expenditure in manufacturing R&D, are statistically significant in explaining euro area FDI to the United States. However, the investment climate in the euro area enhances the traditional knowledge-capital framework specification by adding further explanatory power to the FDI equation.

Overall, the empirical findings suggest that euro area patents (ownership advantage), various variables related to productivity in the United States (location advantage), the volume of bilateral telephone traffic to the United States relative to euro area GDP (location advantage), stock markets prices in euro area countries - adjusted for economic developments common to both the United States and the euro area – (adjusted Tobin's q), and the real exchange rate are statistically significant determinants of euro area FDI to the United States.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Data and trends in FDI are briefly discussed in Section 2. Section 3 presents the theoretical model of FDI based on the knowledge-capital framework and Tobin's Q. Section 4 presents the data set. Section 5 discusses the empirical results. Section 6 concludes.

2. Foreign direct investment: Definitions and trends

The US Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) defines FDI as the acquisition of foreign assets (based on residence) with the intention to exert control. More specifically, FDI in the United States is ownership or control, direct and indirect, by one foreign person of 10% or more of the voting securities of a US business enterprise (BEA, 2001). This definition has at least two important features. First, FDI reflects entering into a long-term relationship with the host

country. Second, FDI does not merely represent a transfer of resources across national borders, but also a transfer of corporate control.⁶

This study uses balance of payments and direct investment position data in order to construct a series of the stock of FDI for the twelve euro area countries in the United States for the period 1980-2001. The data are obtained from the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), which defines the "intention to exert control" as ownership of more than 10%. These data measure the value of the parent firms' financial stakes in their foreign affiliates. As such, direct investment position data measure FDI as an input of production (Lipsey, 2001).⁷

Figure 1 shows the aggregate euro area stock of FDI in the United States, as well as the annual outflows, calculated at 1995 US dollar constant prices (both expressed as indices with 2000 as the base year). It is clear that the real stock of euro area FDI held in the United States has increased linearly in the 1980's and exponentially in the 1990's. The real stock of FDI in 2001 was fourteen times as large as it was in 1980. On average, the real stock of FDI increased by 14% each year over the period 1980-2001, but the growth in the stock of FDI was particularly strong in the second half of the 1990s. For example, the euro area's real stock of FDI in the United States grew by almost 30% in 1999, while the size of real euro area FDI outflows to the United States reached their peak in 2000 amounting to around ten times the magnitude of outflows in 1995.

⁶ Direct investment inflows in the United States consist of equity capital inflows, intercompany debt inflows and reinvested earnings. Equity capital inflows are net increases in foreign parents's equity in their US affiliates. Intercompany debt inflows consist of the increase in US affiliates' net intercompany debt payable to their foreign parent. Reinvested earnings of US affiliates are after-tax earnings of the affiliates not distributed as dividends (BEA, 2001). In 2001 the shares of equity capital, inter-company debt and reinvested earnings in total euro area FDI in the United States were 65%, 43% and –9% respectively.

⁷ It is important to stress that investment position data are based on the immediate sources and destinations of investment, whereas the ultimate source and final destination might be located in different industries or countries (Lipsey, 2001). This could lead to the overestimation of financial "hubs" as sources or destinations of investment (i.e. Luxembourg and the Netherlands).

[Insert Figure 1, here]

Figure 2 shows the distribution of the euro area's stock of FDI in the United States, indicating that the bulk of euro area FDI to the United States is accounted for by a few countries. Back in 1980, the Netherlands was responsible for 52% of the stock of euro area FDI in the United States followed by Germany and France which held 20% and 14% of the stock respectively. In the 1990s Germany, France and Luxembourg gained substantially in importance as FDI investors in the United States. By 2001, Germany was the biggest investor holding 31% of the euro area stock of FDI in the United States, while the share of the Netherlands fell to 29%, France had 22% and Luxembourg 13%. The seemingly disproportionate share of the Netherlands and Luxembourg in euro area FDI may be related to methodological issues regarding the classification of the data.⁸ Both countries may act as hubs for FDI resulting from a highly developed and sophisticated financial sector combined with favourable fiscal policies for firms. In addition, we do not have sufficient data for all of the explanatory variables for Luxembourg, therefore, this country was excluded from the empirical analysis. With regard to the Netherlands, it might be appropriate during the econometric analysis to check the robustness of the results by at first including, and then excluding, this country from the sample.

[Insert Figure 2, here]

Figure 3 plots the movements of nominal stock markets indices in France, Germany and the Netherlands, the three major euro area countries undertaking FDI activities, against

⁸ According to data from the Thomson Merger and Acquisition (M&A) database for 2001 based on ultimate source and target country, Germany and France both account for 31% of the stock of euro area FDI in the US (based on cumulated M&A), the Netherlands for 25% and Luxembourg for only 2%. Thus, it is clear that Luxembourg ought to be excluded from the sample as the data classification method changes the picture dramatically, while for the Netherlands the decision whether or not to exclude it is far from obvious and should be considered as an empirical question.

euro area nominal FDI outflows to the United States. It can be seen that euro area FDI outflows and stock market indices tend to show a significant degree of co-movement over the sample period. Accordingly, Figure 3 suggests that the value of the corporate sector could be a factor positively affecting euro area outward FDI to the United States.

[Insert Figure 3, here]

A sectoral analysis of euro area FDI to the United States – using the M&A database of Thomson Financial – provides some useful insights. For example, Figure 4 (based on the average for the period 1985-2001) shows that services – excluding the financial sector – accounted for 31.1% of total M&As, financial services received 14.9%, while manufacturing amounted to 35.7%. One striking feature is that the proportion of "high-tech" US companies acquired by euro area firms has been increasing over time. In particular, the boom in euro area FDI to the United States in the mid-to-late 1990s was concentrated in high-tech industries. In 2001, for example, the high-tech industries (i.e. a composite of biotechnology, computer equipment, electronics and communication technology sectors, etc.) accounted for 47% of total euro area M&A in the United States compared to an average of 32% over the years 1998-2001 and an average of 21% over the period 1985-1997.

These stylised facts suggest that euro area corporate sector valuation, as well as the internalisation of US knowledge capital, may affect euro area FDI activities to the United States.

[Insert Figure 4, here]

3. A model of FDI with convex adjustment costs

Assume that multinational firms are characterised by the following production functions: $F\{k_t, P_t\}$ in the home country and $G\{k_t, K_t^j, P_t\}$ in the host country, where k_t denotes the firm's capital stock; P_t the multinational firm-specific asset (ownership advantage) and K_t^j the knowledge-capital in the host country (location advantage).

The multinational firm is able to produce a specific product and is willing to undertake FDI, although it is costly, to enjoy the foreign technological advantages, which can be internalised only by having a presence abroad. In general, K_t^j can be interpreted as the country-specific variables, such as technology, flexibility of the labour markets, other institutions, etc., which increase firms' output.

Assume that markets are segmented so that each firm maximises the present value of its profit function with respect to its inputs and with respect to both domestic investment, I_t , and foreign domestic investment, FDI_t .

Assuming that capital depreciates at a constant proportional rate *h*, the evolution of the capital stock is given by $\dot{k_t} = I_t + FDI_t - hk_t$, where a dot over a variable denotes the derivative of that variable with respect to time.

In addition, assume that each multinational firm faces costs of adjusting its capital stock, which could be higher abroad (i.e. management becomes more spread in the organisation. Training costs in foreign languages might be higher. Additional costs might arise to bridge cultural differences and different practices as well as to understand bureaucracy and institutions abroad). Then, the net real cash flow of a firm operating at home and abroad at time t, V_t^j , is:

$$V_{t}^{j} = \int_{s=t}^{\infty} e^{-r(s-t)} \left[p_{s}^{F} \left(F\{k_{s}, P_{s}\} - \frac{\delta^{I}}{2} \frac{I_{s}^{2}}{k_{s}} \right) - I_{s} + \frac{p_{s}^{G}}{x_{s}} \left(G\{k_{s}, P_{s}, K_{s}^{j}\} - \frac{\delta^{FDI}}{2} \frac{FDI_{s}^{2}}{k_{s}} \right) - FDI_{s} \right] ds,$$

where p_s^F denotes the domestic good price, p_s^G the foreign good price, x_t the exchange rate (host country currency relative to the home country currency), *r* the constant real interest rate, and δ^I and δ^{FDI} the firm's cost parameters of adjusting its capital stock respectively at home and abroad. On the one hand, the more rapidly the firm adjusts its stock of capital, the lower its profits are. On the other hand, the higher the spillovers from the host country and the expected appreciation of the foreign currency, the higher its profits would be. Note that $\delta^{FDI} > \delta^{I}$, only if the low of one-price holds.

The firm chooses the paths of domestic investment and FDI by maximising V_t^j subject to the evolution of the capital stock. Therefore, the current-value Hamiltonian is equal to

$$H\{k_{t}, I_{t}, FDI_{t}\} = \left[p_{s}^{F}\left(F\{k_{t}, P_{t}\} - \frac{\delta^{I}}{2}\frac{I_{t}^{2}}{k_{t}}\right) - I_{t} + \frac{p_{s}^{G}}{x_{s}}\left(G\{k_{t}, P_{t}, K_{t}^{j}\} - \frac{\delta^{FDI}}{2}\frac{FDI_{t}^{2}}{k_{t}}\right) - FDI_{t}\right] + q_{t}\left(I_{t} + FDI_{t} - hk_{t}\right),$$

where q_t denotes the shadow value of the state variable (the value of a unit of capital).

The derivatives of the Hamiltonian with respect to the control variables, I_t and FDI_t , yield the condition under which a firm invests to the point where the cost of acquiring capital equals the value of the capital:

$$1 + p_t^F \delta^I \frac{I_t}{k_t} = q_t, \tag{1}$$

$$1 + \frac{p_t^G}{x_t} \delta^{FDI} \frac{FDI_t}{k_t} = q_t.$$
⁽²⁾

Therefore, domestic and foreign investments are positive only when the shadow price q_t of installed capital exceeds unity, the price of new, uninstalled capital.

The derivative of the Hamiltonian with respect to the state variable, k_t , yields the condition under which the marginal revenue product of capital equals the opportunity cost of a unit of capital:

$$p_{t}^{F}F_{k}\left\{k_{t},P_{t}\right\}+\frac{p_{t}^{G}}{x_{t}}G_{k}\left\{k_{t},P_{t},K_{t}^{j}\right\}=(r+h)q_{t}-\dot{q}_{t}.$$
(3)

In other words, owning a unit of capital for a period requires forgoing rq_t of real interest and involved offsetting gains of \dot{q}_t .

Finally, the transversality condition $\lim_{t\to\infty} e^{-rt}q_tk_t = 0$ states that the value of the capital stock must approach zero.

Provided that permanent bubbles in the shadow price of capital are ruled out, so that $q_t \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow \infty$, the solution of the differential equation (3) yields the so-called marginal-q. That is, the value of a unit of capital at a given time equals the discounted value of its future marginal revenue products:⁹

$$q_{t} = (r+h)^{-1} \left(p_{t}^{F} F_{k} \{k_{t}, P_{t}\} + \frac{p_{t}^{G}}{x_{t}} G_{k} \{k_{t}, P_{t}, K_{t}^{j}\} \right).$$

$$(4)$$

By using (4), (1) and (2) can be rewritten as follows:

$$\frac{I_{t}}{k_{t}} = \frac{1}{\delta^{T} p_{t}^{F}} \left[\left(r + h \right)^{-1} \left(p_{t}^{F} F_{k} \left\{ k_{t}, P_{t} \right\} + \frac{p_{t}^{G}}{x_{t}} G_{k} \left\{ k_{t}, P_{t}, K_{t}^{j} \right\} \right) - 1 \right],$$
(5)

$$\frac{FDI_{t}}{k_{t}} = \frac{1}{\delta^{FDI}} \frac{x_{t}}{p_{t}^{G}} \left[\left(r+h \right)^{-1} \left(p_{t}^{F} F_{k} \left\{ k_{t}, P_{t} \right\} + \frac{p_{t}^{G}}{x_{t}} G_{k} \left\{ k_{t}, P_{t}, K_{t}^{j} \right\} \right) - 1 \right].$$
(6)

Expressions (5) and (6) should explain respectively euro area domestic investment and FDI activities.

As mentioned earlier, it seems that the technology boom in the United States – and the desire of euro area firms to acquire the new technologies of US companies – seems to have been a key factor behind FDI outflows to the United States, particularly in the second-half of the 1990s. This motivation for undertaking FDI would fall under the heading of vertical

⁹ Expression (3) is a first-order linear differential equation with a variable coefficient and a variable term of the type $\dot{y}_t + u_u y_t = w_t$, here with $y_t = q_t$, $u_u = r + h$ and $w_t = p_t^F F_k + p_t^G G_k / x_t$. The constancy of *r* helps simplifying the mathematical solution of the problem. Needless to say that the intuition of the model would hold if *r* were time variant.

location advantages within the knowledge-capital framework. In order to understand more fully the role of these vertical location advantages, namely the importance of US-specific technology variables as a pull factor of euro area FDI, assume that $F\{k_t, P_t\} = P_t k_t^{1-\alpha}$ and $G\{k_t, K_t^j, P_t\} = P_t K_i^j k_t^{1-\alpha}$ with $0 < \alpha < 1$. Then, $F_k\{k_t, P_t\} = (1-\alpha)P_t k_t^{-\alpha}$ and $G_k\{k_t, K_t^j, P_t\} = (1-\alpha)P_t K_i^j k_t^{-\alpha}$. Hence, $G_k\{k_t, K_t^j, P_t\} = K_i^j F_k\{k_t, P_t\}$. Substituting the latter expression into (5) and (6) yields

$$\frac{I_t}{k_t} = \frac{1}{\delta^I p_t^F} \left[\left(r + h \right)^{-1} p_t^F F_k \left\{ k_t, P_t \right\} \left(1 + K_t^j \frac{1}{z_t} \right) - 1 \right], \tag{7}$$

$$\frac{FDI_{t}}{k_{t}} = \frac{1}{\delta^{FDI}} \frac{z_{t}}{p_{t}^{F}} \left[(r+h)^{-1} p_{t}^{F} F_{k} \{k_{t}, P_{t}\} \left(1 + K_{t}^{j} \frac{1}{z_{t}} \right) - 1 \right],$$
(8)

where $z_t = x_t \frac{p_t^F}{p_t^G}$ denotes the real exchange rate expressed in terms of the home currencies.

The reduced forms (7) and (8) show that domestic investment and FDI are a positive function (of the discounted value) of the knowledge capital of the host country (vertical location advantage) and of the marginal revenue product of capital in the home country excluding the spillovers coming from the host country (investment climate in the euro area). Both equations can be estimated independently.¹⁰

Two alternative specifications could be studied: first, the Tobin's Q represented by (6); second, the separation of Tobin's Q into the vertical location element and the part relating to the investment climate in the euro area, as represented by (8). Accordingly, by using proxies for what we call "unadjusted" and "adjusted" Tobin's Q, two alternative

¹⁰ This result is based on the hypothesis that multinational firms are not financially constrained. However, our approach is supported by the weak evidence that outward FDI competes with domestic investment found by Stevens and Lipsey (1991), who analysed the interdependence between domestic and foreign investment when firms are financially constrained.

specifications are tested. In particular, if stock market developments adequately capture vertical location advantages, we expect US technology variables to be insignificant when using the unadjusted Tobin's Q and significant when using the adjusted measure.

In addition, (8) also shows that FDI is a positive function of the contemporaneous home country's real exchange rate and a negative function of the future home country's real exchange rate. Therefore, an expected appreciation of the US dollar, by increasing the value of the discounted stream of expected profits made in the United States expressed in terms of the home currency, would encourage euro area FDI to the United States. Under the hypothesis that prices are relatively sticky and that the spot exchange rate is a good predictor of future exchange rates, then one can expect a negative relationship between euro area FDI to the United States and the home countries' real exchange rate, if the capital gain hypothesis holds.

The dynamics of the system between the capital shadow price (3) and the capital stock (1)-(2) has a unique saddle path that gradually converges to the steady state. Since the Tobin's Q model is based upon the assumption that the optimal stock of capital does not adjust instantaneously to shocks, a standard econometric framework to capture this feature is the partial adjustment model, which we estimate in Section 5.¹¹

4. Data, variables and econometric specification

4.1 Proxying Tobin's Q

The marginal Q in equation (8) reflects the discounted value of the marginal product of capital in the euro area, which determines the level of investment abroad – we call this the "unadjusted" Tobin's Q_{ii} . It is not observable.¹² However, as suggested by Barro (1990), the

¹¹ The partial adjustment model to explain FDI activities was also used by Barrel and Pain (1996) and Cheng and Kwan (2000).

¹² The marginal Q is equal to the stock market capitalisation divided by the replacement cost of capital, if the production function is characterised by constant returns to scale (Hayashi, 1982). However, it is common

stock market price is a good proxy for the discounted stream of the future marginal product of capital. Since real FDI is evaluated in US dollars, the euro area stock market price indices are measured in US dollars and in real terms, as suggested by expression (8).

To the extent that the euro area stock market was assumed to have been subject to a permanent bubble, the theoretical model relating to Tobin's Q would no longer be compatible with the existence of a stable equilibrium. However, one should stress that if temporary bubbles occur, they do not necessarily change fundamentally the relationship between the stock market valuation and investment. For example, Chirinko and Schaller (2001) explicitly address the impact of bubbles on corporate investment. Focussing on Japan, they demonstrate that bubbles will tend to stimulate (equity-financed) investment over and above the optimal level of investment based on the (unobserved) real Q. Similarly, in investigating the Japanese investment in the United States, Blonigen (1997) uses the Japanese stock market variable to control for the speculative equity bubble in Japan.

The investment climate in the euro area $(r+h)^{-1} p_t^F F_k$ in equation (8) reflects euro area marginal Q excluding the positive vertical location spillovers from the host country, and we call this the "adjusted" Tobin's \tilde{Q}_{it} measure. By using $(r+h)^{-1} p_t^F F_k$, one could consider the present model as an extension of the knowledge-capital framework by controlling for the investment climate in the euro area. This could, therefore, provide a test as to whether Tobin's Q adds further explanatory power in addition to the variables included in the traditional knowledge-capital framework.

knowledge that multinational firms are characterised by large set up costs and, as a result, by increasing returns to scale. It is important to mention, however, that the stock market capitalisation divided by the replacement cost of capital is strongly correlated with developments in stock market prices. For example, the correlation coefficient between these two variables for both Germany and the United States is equal to 99% over the monthly period 1973-2003.

The problem is how to adjust the Tobin's Q measure, in order to subtract the vertical location advantages and, thereby, derive \tilde{Q}_{ii} . Our methodology to derive \tilde{Q}_{ii} is to regress the real stock market indices of each euro area country on the real US stock market index and use the residuals as our measure of \tilde{Q}_{ii} . We choose this methodology, not only because it subtracts any vertical location spillovers from US firms to euro area multinational firms, but also because it corrects for any excessive correlation between stock markets across the two economic areas, thereby removing the stock market bubble of the late 1990s.¹³

Obviously, this adjusted measure will also take out the information relating to common developments in economic fundamentals in the two regions. As a result, we expect that using the adjusted \tilde{Q}_{it} measure will not only render significant those variables related to vertical location advantages – such as US technology variables – but might also affect the significance of euro area technology variables. However, this approach should give us a much clearer understanding of the role of both technology variables and stock market price developments.

4.2 Ownership and location advantage variables

While discussing the data for the explanatory variables, it is useful to show how the respective variables enter the knowledge-capital framework as a way of highlighting the contribution of this paper to the existing literature. Considerable emphasis is given to knowledge-related variables in the discussion of both ownership and location advantages, while

¹³ Forbes and Rigobon (2002) point out that the high comovement of national stock markets in the second half of the 1990s may have not reflected economic fundamentals. Therefore, the comovement may be considered as excessive.

internationalisation advantages are given less attention, as the latter typically originate from information imperfections related to knowledge transfers.

Ownership advantages usually originate from the presence of firm-specific assets (P_t in the model). In practice, such assets could, for example, be related to technological or marketing capabilities. In the present paper we focus on the importance of firm-specific assets in the form of technological capabilities. More specifically, we use data on patents granted to euro area firms – obtained from the US Patents and Trademark Office (USPTO) as they reflect private knowledge (henceforth referred to as PAT_{it}).¹⁴

The location advantages are often linked to firms' desire to locate close to the market they wish to supply. The *advantage* of locating close to the market increases with the information flows across affiliates. Following Portes and Rey (2003), the overall flow of information between countries is measured by the ratio of the volume of bilateral telephone traffic – obtained from the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) – and the corresponding euro area country GDP (IC_{it}). The inverse of this ratio could be also interpreted as a measure of transaction costs.

Traditionally, vertical FDI (leading to the international fragmentation of production processes) has been associated with the persistence of significant factor cost differentials. However, it seems unlikely that the rapid increase in euro area FDI to the United States is driven by the desire to exploit factor cost differentials. As highlighted previously, the notion of vertical FDI has been extended in order to account for quality-seeking FDI (or 'technology sourcing'). Instead of "cost-reducing" FDI, firms might engage in FDI in order to acquire new technologies which could increase the productivity of the firms as a whole (Kogut and Chang, 1991; Neven and Siotis, 1996). Indeed, often cross-border M&A activities occur such that the technology of the involved firms is made available to all affiliates. One might argue that euro

¹⁴ See Griliches (1990) for a discussion of patents as economic indicators.

area FDI to the United States may have been partly motivated by the desire to "internalise" the stock of US knowledge-capital, which is considered to be one of the main drivers behind the strong performance of the US economy during the second half of the 1990s.¹⁵

To account for "vertical" location advantages, we employ a proxy for the pool of knowledge-capital present in the US economy; that is, real expenditure on R&D in the United States (RD_{USt}), obtained from the US National Science Foundation (NSF). Figure 5 shows the strong rise during the second half of the 1990s in both US R&D expenditure and the share of US patents in high-tech sectors. Therefore, in order to capture the increasing importance of high-tech sectors in terms of technological capabilities and the associated compositional change in FDI towards these sectors, we also use as an alternative measure the number of patents granted to US firms in high-tech sectors relative to the total number of patents granted to US firms in high-tech sectors relative to the total number of patents granted to US firms (HT_{USt}).

[Insert Figure 5, here]

4.3 The real exchange rate

The real exchange rate is defined in the model as the bilateral real exchange rate between the United States and the corresponding euro area countries (RER_{it}). As mentioned in the previous section, the capital gain hypothesis implies a negative relationship between euro area FDI to the United States and the home countries' real exchange rate.

However, alternative hypotheses can lead to different outcomes. The imperfectcapital-market theory of FDI, for example, suggests that a depreciation of the US dollar, by

¹⁵ The number of patents granted to US firms has increased at an accelerating pace over the last two decades in the "New Economy" sectors as well as in the economy as a whole. Over the period 1995-2000, the number of patents increased by 53% in the whole economy and by 101% in the "New Economy" sectors. Over the period 1995-1999 total expenditure on R&D in the United States increased by 31% while in the "New Economy" sectors this amounted to 42%.

increasing the relative wealth position of foreigners, makes foreign firms relative to domestic firms in a better position to bid on an asset, thereby favouring FDI activities in the United States (Froot and Stein, 1991). Blonigen (1997) instead argues that a real dollar depreciation vis-à-vis yen, by raising the Japanese firms' reservation bid, made Japanese acquisitions more likely in US industries with firm-specific assets.

The coefficient on the real exchange rate could also capture the link existing between multinational firms' exports and their FDI activities. The loss in competitiveness from an appreciation of the home countries' real exchange rate would reduce (rise) FDI activities, if FDI and exports were complements (substitute).

4.4 Control variables

Relative interest rates are added to capture the relative cost of capital (RI_{it}). The higher the cost of capital in the euro area relative to the United States, the lower will be the level of investment of euro area firms in the United States (Barrell and Pain, 1997). We also add relative unit labour costs, which are defined as wages divided by labour productivity (RC_{it}), to capture differences in the real cost of labour. As such, relative unit labour costs could both be a proxy for cost-reducing as well as for quality-seeking (i.e., higher productivity) FDI.

As the dependent variable is the absolute real value of the stock of FDI one should account for the market size of the source country. Therefore, in addition to the structural variables discussed so far, real GDP of the home country (GDP_{it}) is also included. For a more detailed description of the data sources, and the derivation of the various variables, the reader is referred to the Appendix.

4.5 The empirical specification

In summary, the following specification is estimated by pooling the data across either eight or, including the Netherlands, nine euro area countries for the period 1980-2001:¹⁶

$$\ln SFDI_{ii} = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 SFDI_{ii-1} + \alpha_3 \ln GDP_{ii} + \alpha_4 \ln PAT_{ii} + \alpha_5 \ln RER_{ii} + \alpha_6 \ln RI_{ii} + \alpha_7 \ln IC_{ii} + \alpha_8 \ln \widetilde{Q}_{ii} + \alpha_9 \ln RC_{ii} + \alpha_{10} \ln TECH_{USt} + \varepsilon_{ii}$$
(9)

where SFDI_{it} denotes the real stock of euro area FDI in the United States, GDP_{it} euro area countries' real GDP, PAT_{it} euro area countries' patents, RER_{it} the real exchange rate expressed in terms of euro area countries' currencies, RI_{it} relative cost of capital, IC_{it} information flows, RC_{it} relative unit labour costs, (TECH_{USt}) various proxies for US technology, such as R&D activities in US manufacturing (RD_{USt}) or the relative number of patents granted to US firms in the high-tech sectors (HT_{USt}) or the US stock market index (SMI_{USt}).

First, we estimate equation (9) with the "adjusted" Tobin's Q measure (\tilde{Q}_{it}); second, we re-estimate equation (9) by replacing (\tilde{Q}_{it}) with the "unadjusted" measure (Q_{it}). If the measures of Tobin's Q are statistically significant, we expect that the technology variables will be significant and positively signed when we include (\tilde{Q}_{it}), but statistically insignificant when we replace (\tilde{Q}_{it}) with (Q_{it}).

5. Empirical results

The model was estimated using the least squares dummy variables (LSDV) estimator for two main reasons: first, the euro area countries are not a random sample; second, the countryspecific characteristics might be correlated with other regressors if fixed effects are not included. In this regard, we carried out Hausman tests, which evaluate the null hypothesis that

¹⁶ Greece, Luxembourg and Portugal were excluded due to data limitations.

individual-level effects are adequately modelled by a random-effects model. The null was rejected at the 5% level of significance, which is to be expected given the cross-country type of panel dimension used in our analysis. However, it is well-known that the LSDV estimator yields biased results in dynamic panels with finite T (Nickell, 1981).¹⁷ Nevertheless, the LSDV estimator will still provide reasonable results in the present case as T (= 22) is relatively large compared to the size of N (= 9).¹⁸

Before discussing the results obtained from the estimation of our theoretical model, it is useful to develop a benchmark model of FDI based on traditional specifications adopted in the knowledge-capital literature. As such, the benchmark model allows us to assess the valueadded of the theoretical model developed in this paper once Tobin's Q is included. We also experiment with different technology variables in order to obtain a more detailed understanding of the role of different US technological developments in explaining the surge in outward FDI from the euro area to the United States.

We begin with the benchmark model in equation (9) but excluding the Tobin's Q measure. The Netherlands are initially dropped from the sample, because of its suspected role of this country as a hub for multinational enterprises. The results are shown in Table 1 (regressions 1 and 2) and confirm the idea that firm-specific assets are an important

¹⁷ The bias results from the correlation between the lagged dependent variable and the transformed residuals. Nickell (1981) shows that the lagged dependent variable is biased towards zero, but that the bias decreases in T and disappears when T goes to infinity.

¹⁸ For example, Judson and Owen (1999) compare the bias of six different estimators of dynamic panel data models: the OLS estimator, the LSDV estimator, a corrected LSDV estimator as proposed by Kiviet (1995), two GMM estimators suggested by Arellano and Bond (1991), and the IV techniques used by Anderson and Hsiao (1981). Their findings are that the LSDV estimator performs just as well, or better than the majority of the alternatives as T increases and is larger than N. In addition, Kiviet (1995) notes that although the LSDV estimator is biased, its standard deviations are very small compared to different IV-estimators. Therefore, on the basis of the MSE-criterion (efficiency versus bias), Kiviet argues that LSDV may be preferable to alternative estimators.

determinant of FDI (i.e. euro area patents, PAT_{it}).¹⁹ The positive and significant effect for expenditure on R&D in the US suggests that the presence of knowledge-capital plays an important role in attracting euro area investors. The sign on the real exchange rate is negative, but not always significant. Relative real interest rates are negative, but insignificant in all specifications. The statistical significance of other variables generally improve when the relative interest rate variable is dropped (regression 2). Telephone traffic relative to euro area GDP is positively signed and statistically significant, indicating that FDI increases with the flow of information. Relative unit labour costs are positive as expected, but only weakly significant. Meanwhile, home country GDP is positive and significant. In sum, the results obtained for the benchmark model are in line with our expectations, although not all variables are found to be strongly significant.²⁰

[Insert Table 1, here]

Regressions 3-5 of Table 1 then add the adjusted Tobin's Q (\tilde{Q}_{it}) to the benchmark model along with various alternative proxies for US technological developments. As expected, adjusted Tobin's Q is positive and statistically significant at the 1% significance level. All in all, the investment climate in the euro area countries – as proxied by \tilde{Q}_{it} – is found to affect the level of euro area investment abroad. In addition, allowing for the impact of \tilde{Q}_{it} in the euro area improves the overall performance of the model, which suggests that

¹⁹ A proxy for the market size of the United States was initially included, but the variable proved insignificant. The variable was subsequently omitted because of the collinearity with other economic aggregates (see also Culem, 1988). In addition, relative effective corporate tax rates were included using comparable rates compiled by Martinez-Mongay (2000). However, they were also found insignificant and, therefore, they were omitted.

²⁰ The tables of results report tests for autocorrelation which is a Lagrange Multiplier test for serial correlation of order 1 which is calculated by regressing the residuals on all of the regressors of the original model and the lagged residuals. The reported F-tests of the significance of the residuals show that serial correlation is not a problem in any of the regressions.

models of FDI that do not account for the investment climate in the home country could be mis-specified.²¹

The results are basically the same for most of the variables if the Netherlands are included in the sample (see Table 2), except for euro area GDP, which is generally found statistically insignificant. To a certain extent, this result might capture the idea that the Netherlands is a "hub" for multinational enterprises. In other words, the relative small size of the Netherlands together with large FDI outflows from this country to the United States might bias the panel results for euro area GDP.

[Insert Table 2, here]

Table 3 shows the results using the unadjusted Tobin's Q. They confirm the role of the euro area stock markets developments as an important variable for explaining euro area FDI to the United States. Interestingly, comparing the results obtained with the adjusted Tobin's Q measure (\tilde{Q}_{it}) reveals that the point estimate for Tobin's Q is very similar. Most importantly and, as expected, euro area patents and the US technology variables are no longer significant, which is consistent with the theoretical framework. All in all, the results of Tables 1-3 suggest that:

• The investment climate in the euro area, as proxied by adjusted Tobin's Q, seems to add further explanatory power in addition to the information provided by the variables included in the traditional knowledge-capital framework (see Tables 1 and 2).

²¹ It has been argued that, when using a generated regressor, statistical inference is invalidated, as the uncertainty introduced by the generated regressors is taken into account when using standard OLS. However, whilst this is true for predicted variables from an auxiliary regression, Pagan (1984) shows that this is not the case for generated residuals. More specifically, Pagan shows that OLS consistently estimates coefficients and standard errors in the presence of *unlagged* generated residuals. As this is the case for our adjusted Q, there appears no need to adjust the standard errors to account for the presence of generated residuals.

• Stock market developments, as proxied by unadjusted Tobin's Q, adequately capture ownership and vertical location advantages (i.e., Table 3 shows that the unadjusted Tobin's Q makes the technology variables insignificant) in explaining FDI activities.

[Insert Table 3, here]

In the rest of this section, we focus on the results of regressions 3-5 in Table 1. Euro area firm-specific assets measured by patents are found to play an important role in explaining euro area FDI to the United States. Also, Barrel and Pain (1997) use patents as a measure of ownership advantage to assess the relevance of firm-specific assets in the European context and find significant positive effects.

The coefficient of the real exchange rate is negative and significant at the 1% significance level: as the US dollar appreciates, the value of the discounted stream of expected profits in the United States in the home currency increases, encouraging current euro area FDI to the United States. This result is in contrast with the findings by Klein and Rosengreen (1994) and Blonigen (1997). Klein and Rosengreen (1994) find a positive relationship between FDI inflows into the United States and the real depreciation of the US dollar over the period 1979-1991, in line with the imperfect-capital-market theory of FDI developed by Froot and Stein (1991).²² Blonigen (1997) also finds a similar relationship, which support his hypothesis that a real dollar depreciation made Japanese acquisitions in the US manufacturing with firm-specific assets more likely in the 1980's and early 1990's.

Another explanation for the negative sign of the real exchange rate could be related to the link between intermediate inputs and FDI. Recent data show that euro area export values of intermediate inputs to the United States represent almost 50% of euro area export values of goods to the United States. In other words, euro area affiliates of multinational enterprises in

²² It is interesting to point out that they use as a regressor the relative stock market index, which however is employed to control for relative wealth.

the United States might have been using intermediate inputs in the production processes exported to them by their parent companies. A depreciation of the euro area countries' real exchange rate would increase euro area export competitiveness and, as a result, encourage FDI to the United States; thereby, offering another explanation for the negative coefficient between FDI and the real exchange rate.

Bilateral telephone traffic relative to euro area GDP is found to be positively and significantly related to euro area FDI to the United States suggesting that an increase in information flows has a positive impact on euro area FDI.

Relative unit labour costs are found to have a positive and significant effect on euro area outward FDI to the United States. Intuitively, it does not seem to be realistic that euro area firms engage in FDI to the United States in order to save on labour costs. A more feasible interpretation might be that the significance of the relative unit labour costs term is being driven by developments in labour productivity differentials.

The R&D variable, a proxy for vertical location advantages, has a positive sign and is statistically significant (regression 3), which is taken as evidence that the presence of knowledge-capital in the US economy attracts euro area FDI. This result complements previous findings by Kogut and Chang (1991), who focus on Japanese FDI in the United States, and Neven and Siotis (1996), who found that expenditure on R&D in Europe is an important determinant for European inward FDI from the United States and Japan.

In terms of US technology, Figure 4 showed that much of euro area outward FDI to the US was concentrated in high-tech sectors. Therefore, we also consider the relative importance of the new economy sectors based on a measure of US patent applications (i.e. the number of US patents in high-tech sectors relative to the total number of US patents).²³ The

²³ We used patent data rather than R&D data for the share of US patents in high-tech sectors as the patent data allow a more detailed breakdown into high- and low-tech sectors.

high-tech patents share variable is found to be positively signed and statistically significant (regression 4), which is consistent with the stylised facts. This variable is also capturing the compositional change towards high-tech sectors in euro area FDI to the United States as shown in Figure 4. Finally, euro area GDP is found to be positive and statistically significant.

In principle, the empirical model could be criticised as it employs measures of current technology in the United States, rather than a proxy for the (discounted) future values of the US stock of knowledge $((r+h)^{-1}K_s^j)$. As a robustness check, we replace the US technology-variable with the US stock market index, which is a proxy for the discounted stream of future profits in the US economy and, therefore, a proxy for $(r+h)^{-1}K_s^j$. The US stock market index (SMI_{USt}) is positively signed and statistically significant (regression 5). Interestingly, the coefficients of the other variables, including the adjusted Tobin's Q, remain similar to the previous specifications and are all significant. In order to provide a broad summary, one might argue that all of the US technology variables may, in various ways, be related to US productivity developments – therefore, one could interpret all of the US technology variables, as well as relative unit costs (which includes productivity), as representing productivity effects.

In all regressions, the coefficient of the lagged dependent variable is close to 0.8, but statistically different from unity. Therefore, the persistence in accumulating capital stock in the United States by euro area multinational firms appears to be high. In the long run, according to the estimated coefficient in the alternative specifications, a 10% increase in the stock market of the euro area in real terms implies a 5.8-7.8% increase of the euro area FDI stock in the United States.

An additional possible criticism to the empirical analysis is related to the spurious regression problem, as most of the employed variables are non-stationary and we estimate the

model in terms of levels.²⁴ However, when estimating in levels, spurious regression may be a far less important problem in panel estimation compared to time series estimates. For example, Phillips and Moon (1999) show that for panels with large (T and N) the fixed effects estimator consistently measures a long-run effect even when both the variables and the error term are I(1). This is because the covariance between the I(1) regressor and the I(1) error term, which produces the spurious regression in time series, is much weaker in panels because of the averaging across independent groups. Nevertheless, to ensure that a spurious regression has not been estimated, we test whether the residuals of the specifications are stationary processes. The multivariate augmented Dickey-Fuller (MADF) test of Taylor and Sarno (1998), and the Levin-Lin (2002) and Im, Pesaran and Shin (2003) tests for unit roots strongly reject the null hypothesis that the residuals of the panel regressions are I(1) (see Table 4). The residuals of the LSDV estimates are stationary and, therefore, the LSDV results are not spurious.

[Insert Table 4, here]

Moreover, one might argue that FDI and real exchange rates are simultaneously determined. Therefore, we also estimated the equations reported in Tables 1-3 using the Arellano-Bond estimator and found that the GMM results produce very similar results to the reported LSDV results. It should also be emphasised that the GMM results are less likely to be affected by spurious regression problems, as they are based on equations expressed in first differences.

 $^{^{24}}$ In the context of I(1) variables, an alternative possibility is to use the cointegration approach (Kao, 1999; Pedroni, 1999). However, given the large number of variables employed and the relative size of T and N, it was deemed that the cointegration approach was inappropriate for our analysis.

6. Conclusions

The literature on domestic investment and FDI has developed in a somewhat separate manner. The present paper represents a first step at bringing together elements of these two strands of literature by focussing on the long-term determinants of euro area FDI to the United States during the period 1980-2001. The theoretical model developed in this paper essentially incorporates the traditional FDI model based on the knowledge-capital framework within a model of investment with convex adjustment costs, i.e. the Q-model of investment.

The empirical results, which are based on a dynamic specification estimated using a fixed effects estimator, substantiate the theoretical predictions that the investment climate in the euro area, as reflected in Tobin's Q, turns out to be an important explanatory variable of euro area FDI to the United States. Furthermore, Tobin's Q, measured in the paper by stock market price indices, seems to add further explanatory power to FDI equations in addition to the information provided by the traditional variables included in the knowledge-capital framework, such as patents and expenditure in R&D. A major benefit of finding the stock market term statistically significant is that it provides a data series which is available up to the current date. Therefore, it allows one to derive a better judgement of current and future movements in FDI given that other variables which explain FDI – such as patents or expenditure in R&D – are only available with a considerable lag.

To disentangle the effects of technology on FDI, we have adjusted the euro area stock market indices by regressing them on the US stock market index. The retrieved residuals were then used as our measure of the "adjusted" Tobin's Q. By so doing, however, we correct not only for positive spillovers from US firms to euro area multinational enterprises (which capture vertical location advantages) and for excessive correlation of stock markets, but also for comovement of other economic fundamentals between the two regions. In accordance with the theoretical framework, when the adjusted Tobin's Q measure is employed, several technology variables typically used in the knowledge-capital framework to capture ownership and location advantages become significant, while they are insignificant when using the unadjusted Tobin's Q.

Moreover, the volume of bilateral telephone traffic relative to euro area GDP was used to account for the importance of information flows in explaining FDI. Finally, the negative sign of the real exchange rate could be interpreted as representing the higher expected value of repatriated profits when expressed in the home country currency or could indicate the existence of a link between FDI activity and euro area intermediate inputs exported to the United States.

In summary, according to the knowledge-capital-Tobin's Q framework proposed in this study, euro area patents (ownership advantage), various variables related to productivity developments in the United States (location advantage), the volume of bilateral telephone traffic to the United States relative to euro area GDP (location advantage), the adjusted euro area stock market (adjusted Tobin's Q) and the real exchange rate all have the expected signs in line with our priors and are statistically significant. In particular, in the long run and *ceteris paribus*, a 10% increase in the stock market of the euro area in real terms implies a 5.8-7.8% increase of the euro area FDI stock in the United States depending upon the chosen specification.

According to the BEA, euro area FDI outflows to the United States have continued to decline in 2002 and 2003 together with the annual average stock price decline in the euro area (see Figure 3). Moreover, the euro-dollar real exchange rate based on the producer price index appreciated on an annual basis by 14.7% in 2002 and 16.5% in 2003. The fall in euro area equity prices and the appreciation of the euro might have played an important role in explaining the fall of euro area FDI outflows to the United States in 2002 and 2003.

One possible extension of this research is to test for statistical significance of euro area firms' financial conditions, as a substantial body of literature suggests that firms with high cash-flow should invest more, as they have additional means of self-financing. This analysis could be carried out by means of a cash-flow measure, which is orthogonal to future expected earnings. However, these exercises are usually carried out using firm level data.



References

- Anderson, T.W. and C. Hsiao (1981), "Estimation of dynamic models with error components", *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, Vol. 76, pp. 589-606.
- Arrellano, M. and S. Bond (1991), "Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations", *Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 58, pp. 277-297.
- Barrell, R. and N. Pain (1996), "An Econometric Analysis of U.S. Foreign Direct Investment", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 78, pp. 200-207.
- Barrell, R. and N. Pain (1997), "Foreign Direct Investment, Technological Change, and Economic Growth within Europe", *Economic Journal*, Vol. 107, pp. 1770-1786.
- Barro, R. J. (1990), "The Stock Market and Investment", *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 3, pp. 115-131.
- BEA (2001), Foreign Direct Investment in the United States: Final Results from the 1997 Benchmark Survey, Washington D.C.
- Blonigen, B.A. (1997), "Firm-Specific Assets and the Link between Exchange Rates and Foreign Direct Investment", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 87, pp. 447-465.
- Blonigen, B.A., R.B. Davies, and K. Head (2003), "Estimating the Knowledge-Capital Model of the Multinational Enterprise: Comment", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 93, pp. 980-994.
- Bond, S. and J. Cummins (2001), "Noisy Share Prices and the Q Model of Investment", *IFS Working Paper*, WP01/22.
- Carr, D.L., J.R. Markusen, and K.E. Maskus (2001), "Estimating The Knowledge-Capital Model of the Multinational Enterprise", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 91, pp. 693-708.
- Cheng, L.K. and Y.K. Kwan (2000), "What are the Determinants of the Location of Foreign Direct Investment? The Chinese Experience", *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 51, pp. 379-400.
- Chirinko, R.S. and H. Schaller (2001), "Business Fixed Investment and "Bubbles": The Japanese Case", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 91, No. 3, pp. 663-680.
- Culem, C.G. (1988), "The Locational Determinants of Direct Investments among Industrialized Countries", *European Economic Review*, Vol. 32, pp. 885-904.
- De Santis, R.A. and F. Stähler (2003), "Endogenous Market Structures and the Gains from Foreign Direct Investment", *Journal of International Economics*, forthcoming.

- Dunning, J.H. (1977), "Trade, Location of Economic Activity and MNE: A Search for an Eclectic Approach", in Ohlin, B., Hesselborn, P.O., Wijkman, P.M. (Eds.), *The International Allocation of Economic Activity*, Macmillan, London, pp. 395-418.
- Erickson, T. and T.M. Whited (2000), "Measurement Error and the Relationship between Investment and q", *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 108, pp. 1027-1057.
- Forbes, K. and R. Rigobon (2002), "No Contagion, Only Interdependence: Measuring Stock Market Co-movements", *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57, pp. 2223-2261.
- Fosfuri, A., and M. Motta (1999), "Multinationals Without Advantages", *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, Vol. 101, pp. 617-630.
- Froot, A.K. and J.C. Stein (1991), "Exchange Rates and Foreign Direct Investment: An Imperfect Capital Markets Approach", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 106, pp. 1191-1217.
- Griliches, Z. (1990), "Patent Statistics as Economics Indicators: A Survey", *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 28, pp. 1661-1707.
- Hayashi, F. (1982), "Tobin's Marginal q and Average q: A Neoclassical Interpretation", *Econometrica*, Vol. 50, pp. 213-224.
- Im, K.S., Pesaran, M.H. and Y. Shin (2003), "Testing for Unit Roots in Heterogeneous Panels", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 155, pp. 53-74.
- Jovanovic, B. and P.L. Rouseau (2002), "The Q-Theory of Mergers", American Economic Review, Vol. 92, pp. 198-204.
- Judson, R.A. and A.L. Owen (1999), "Estimating Dynamic Panel Data Models: A Guide for Macroeconomists", *Economics Letters*, Vol. 65, 53-78.
- Kao, C. (1999), "Spurious Regressions and Residual-Based Tests for Cointegration in Panel Data", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 90, pp. 1-44.
- Kiviet, J.F. (1995), "On Bias, Inconsistency, and Efficiency of Various Estimators in Dynamic Panel Data Models", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 68, pp. 53-78.
- Klein, M.W. and E. Rosengren (1994), "The Real Exchange Rate and Foreign Direct Investment in the United States", *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 36, pp. 373-389.
- Kogut, B. and S.J. Chang (1991), "Technological Capabilities and Japanese Foreign Direct Investment in the United States", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 73, pp. 401-413.
- Levin, A., Lin, C.F. and Chu, C.S. (2002), "Unit Root Tests in Panel Data: Asymptotic and Finite Sample Properties", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 108, pp. 1-24.



- Lipsey, R.E. (2001), "Foreign Direct Investment and the Operations of Multinational Firms: Concepts, History, and Data", *NBER Working Paper*, No. 8665.
- Markusen, J.R. (2002), *Multinational Firms and the Theory of International Trade*, Cambridge, The MIT Press.
- Markusen, J.R. and K.E. Maskus (2001), "General Equilibrium Approaches to the Multinational Firm: A Review of Theory and Evidence", in J. Harrigan (ed.), *Handbook of International Trade*, London: Basil Blackwell.
- Markusen, J.R. and A. Venables (1998), "Multinational Firms and the New Trade Theory", *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 46, pp. 183-203.
- Martinez-Mongay, C. (2000), "ECFIN's effective tax rates. Properties and comparisons with other tax indicators", *European Commission DG2 Economic Papers*, n. 146.
- Neven, D. and G. Siotis (1996), "Technology Sourcing and FDI in the EC: An Empirical Evaluation", *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, Vol. 14, pp. 543-560.
- Nickell, S.J. (1981), "Biases in Dynamic Models with Fixed Effects", *Econometrica*, Vol. 49, pp. 1417-1426.
- Pagan, A. (1984), "Econometric Issues in the Analysis of Regressions with Generated Regressors", *International Economic Review*, Vol. 25, pp. 221-247.
- Pedroni, P. (1999), "Critical Values for Cointegration Tests in Heterogeneous Panels with Multiple Regressors", *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 61, 653-670.
- Phillips, P. and H. Moon (1999), Linear Regression Theory for Non-Stationary Panel Data, *Econometrica*, Vol. 67, pp. 1057-1111.
- Portes, R. and H. Rey (2003), "The Determinants of Cross-Border Equity Flows", mimeo.
- Stevens, G.V.G. and R.E. Lipsey (1991), "Interactions between Domestic and Foreign Investment", *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 11, pp. 40-62.
- Taylor, M.P. and L. Sarno (1998), "The Behaviour of real Exchange Rates during the Post-Bretton Woods Period", *Journal of International Economics*, Vol. 46, pp. 281-312.
- Tobin, J. (1969), "A General Equilibrium Approach to Monetary Theory", *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, Vol. 1, pp. 15-29.
- UNCTAD (2003), World Investment Report, United Nations: New York and Geneva.



Figure 1: Euro area stock and outflows of FDI to the United States

(Indices: 2000=100, 1995 constant prices)

Figure 2: FDI outflows to the United States for each euro area country expressed as a share of total euro area FDI to the United States



Figure 3: Euro area FDI outflows to the United States and equity market indices in three major euro area countries (Indices: 2000=100, US dollars)



Figure 4: Sectoral distribution of euro area Mergers and Acquisitions in the US



Euro Area M&A in the US by Industry (% of total)

Source: Thomson







	OLI		OLI plus Tobin's		's Q
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
SFDI _{t-1}	0.82 (16.5) ***	0.82 (23.0) ***	0.81 (24.2) ***	0.82 (26.2) ***	0.82 (27.3) ***
GDP _{it}	0.29 (2.22) **	0.28 (2.07) **	0.34 (2.52) **	0.31 (2.28) **	0.27 (2.11) **
PAT _{it}	0.19 (1.76) *	0.20 (2.23) **	0.21 (2.46) **	0.17 (2.19) **	0.16 (1.99) **
RER _{it}	-0.16 (-1.55)	-0.17 (-1.97) **	-0.26 (-2.68) ***	-0.32 (-3.76) ***	-0.31 (-3.72) ***
RI _{it}	-0.03	-	-	-	-
IC _{it}	0.08 (1.96) **	0.09 (1.90) *	0.10 (2.98) ***	0.10 (2.73) ***	0.10 (2.65) ***
$\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{it}$	-	-	0.11 (3.93) ***	0.13 (4.90) ***	0.14 (4.68) ***
RC _{it}	0.71 (1.60)	0.68 (1.54)	0.90 (2.21) **	0.87 (1.99) **	0.81 (1.80) *
RD _{USt}	0.33 (1.99) **	0.35 (2.73) ***	0.31 (2.51) **	-	-
HT _{USt}	-	-	-	0.25 (2.29) **	-
SMI _{USt}	-	-	-	-	0.10 (2.37) **
Constant	-5.83 (-3.31) **	-5.98 (-4.47) ***	-6.34 (-5.33) ***	-3.36 (-2.51) **	-3.52 (-2.84) ***
AR(1) N(0,1) Number of observations	-0.48 [0.60] 168	-0.37 [0.71] 168	-0.59 [0.55] 168	-0.69 [0.49] 168	-0.51 [0.61] 168

Table 1:The determinants of euro area FDI to the United States
(using adjusted Tobin's Q; excluding the Netherlands)

*, **, *** indicate 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels. Robust t-values in parentheses.

	OLI		OLI plus Tobi		's Q
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
SFDI _{t-1}	0.84 (18.5) ***	0.83 (22.6) ***	0.82 (23.8) ***	0.83 (26.1) ***	0.83 (26.8) ***
GDP _{it}	0.22 (1.72) *	0.19 (1.34)	0.24 (1.67) *	0.22 (1.43)	0.18 (1.19)
PAT _{it}	0.19 (1.86) *	0.20 (2.29) **	0.22 (2.47) **	0.18 (2.15) **	0.17 (1.96) *
RER _{it}	-0.13 (-1.36)	-0.15 (-1.85) *	-0.23 (-2.43) **	-0.29 (-3.46) ***	-0.28 (-3.39) ***
RI _{it}	-0.07	-	-	-	-
IC _{it}	(-0.72) 0.07 (1.64)	0.08 (1.69) *	0.10 (3.07) ***	0.09 (2.32) **	0.09 (2.26) ***
$\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{it}$	-	-	0.10 (3.07) ***	0.12 (3.74) ***	0.12 (3.68) ***
RC _{it}	0.64 (1.59)	0.54 (1.40)	0.75 (2.07) **	0.68 (1.74) *	0.63 (1.53)
RD _{USt}	0.29 (2.04) **	0.34 (2.84) ***	0.30 (2.62) ***	-	-
HT _{USt}	-	-	-	0.22 (2.23) **	-
SMI _{USt}	-	-	-	-	0.09 (2.20) **
Constant	-4.93 (-3.44) ***	-5.20 (-4.07) ***	-5.50 (1.19)	-2.69 (-1.80) *	-2.80 (-1.95) *
AR(1) N(0,1) Number of observations	-0.56 [0.57] 189	-0.27 [0.78] 189	-0.48 [0.63] 189	-0.56 [0.57] 189	-0.40 [0.69] 189

Table 2:The determinants of euro area FDI to the United States
(using adjusted Tobin's Q; including the Netherlands)

*, **, *** indicate 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels. Robust t-values in parentheses.

	Excluding the Netherlands		Including the	Netherlands
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
SFDI _{t-1}	0.78 (21.8) ***	0.78 (21.6) ***	0.81 (21.9) ***	0.81 (21.5) ***
GDP _{it}	0.33 (2.68) ***	0.34 (2.79) ***	0.18 (1.14)	0.20 (1.21)
PAT _{it}	0.11 (1.44)	0.10 (1.46)	0.15 (1.69) *	0.13 (1.55)
RER _{it}	-0.31 (-3.72) ***	-0.31 (-3.76) ***	-0.23 (-2.27) **	-0.26 (-3.19) ***
IC _{it}	0.13 (3.72) ***	0.13 (4.05) ***	0.10 (2.54) **	0.10 (2.75) ***
Q _{it}	0.14 (3.11) ***	0.15 (4.57) ***	0.10 (1.93) *	0.11 (2.83) ***
RC _{it}	0.99 (2.35) **	0.98 (2.30) **	0.66 (1.70) *	0.63 (1.53)
RD _{USt}	0.05 (0.27)	-	0.11 (0.63)	-
HT _{USt}	-	0.0 (0.02)	-	0.01 (0.08)
Constant	-3.85 (-2.81) ***	-3.58 (-2.98) ***	-3.24 (-2.30) **	-2.54 (-1.66) *
AR(1) N(0,1) Number of observations	-0.32 [0.75] 168	-0.31 [0.76] 168	-0.12 [0.91] 189	-0.08 [0.94] 189

Table 3:The determinants of euro area FDI to the United States
(using the unadjusted Tobin's Q)

*, **, *** indicate 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels. Robust t-values in parentheses.

Table 4:	Unit root	tests on	the	residuals

		OLI regression (2)	OLI plus Tobin's Q regression (3)
Deterministic trend	Lags	Im-Pesaran-Shin	Im-Pesaran-Shin
	8	t-statistic (P-value)	t-statistic (P-value)
	0	-8.6 (0.000)	-8.8 (0.000)
Constant	1	-6.1 (0.000)	-6.1 (0.000)
	2	-4.0 (0.000)	-4.2 (0.001)
	0	-8.9 (0.000)	-9.1 (0.000)
Constant and trend	1	-6.5 (0.000)	-6.7 (0.000)
	2	-4.4 (0.000)	-4.5 (0.000)
		Levin-Lin	Levin-Lin
		t-statistic (P-value)	t-statistic (P-value)
	0	-8.9 (0.000)	-9.2 (0.000)
Constant	1	-6.1 (0.000)	-6.2 (0.000)
	2	-2.8 (0.003)	-3.0 (0.001)
	0	-9.4 (0.000)	-9.5 (0.000)
Constant and trend	1	-6.4 (0.000)	-6.4 (0.000)
	2	-2.5 (0.006)	-2.5 (0.006)
		MADF t-statistics (5% critical values)	MADF t-statistics (5% critical values)
Constant	1	181 4 (38 9)	187 6 (38 9)
Constant	2	124 2 (41 7)	130.2(41.7)
	-	121.2(11.7)	150.2 (11.7)

-

(using adjusted Tobin's Q; excluding the Netherlands)

Data appendix

All variables are in logs.

- GDP_{it} Real euro area country GDP based on gross domestic product at current prices deflated by the national GDP deflator and evaluated in US dollars. <u>Source:</u> European Commission (DG ECFIN).
- HT_{USt} The lagged ratio of number of patents granted in the United States to US firms in high-tech sectors (sectors US SIC 357 and US SIC 365-67) over total number of patents granted in the United States to US firms. Source: USPTO.
- IC_{it} Lagged volume of bilateral telephone traffic as proxy for information costs divided by real euro area country GDP. Number of total minutes called abroad for each source country are available for 1980-2000 from the International Telecommunications Union. Bilateral telephone traffic with the United States is only available for the period 1991-2000 for a number of countries. In the case where no data on the volume of bilateral telephone traffic were available, total telephone traffic was used in combination with the ratio of bilateral telephone traffic over total international telephone traffic. The ratio was assumed constant over time. In the case that no bilateral data at all were available the ratio of a 'similar' country was used (BE=LUX and NL; FR=IT; UK=IRE; ES=PRT). Although this procedure is far from perfect (and responsible for excessively high values for Ireland), it is better than using simply total international telephone traffic. Note that with LSDV time-invariant effects are wiped out. As a result the coefficients will be unaffected. Source: ITU.
- PAT_{it} 5-Year moving average of patents granted in the US to euro area firms in country *i*. Source: USPTO.
- Q_{it} Stock market indices were obtained from Datastream Global Indices and Morgan Stanley. These indices are based on a representative sample of stocks in each market in order to make them internationally comparable. Tobin's Q is measured by the stock market price indices in US dollars and deflated by the corresponding national GDP deflator. <u>Source:</u> Thomson Datastream, Morgan Stanley.
- \widetilde{Q}_{it} The real euro area stock market indices are regressed on the real US stock market index. The retrieved residuals are defined as "adjusted" Tobin's Q.
- RC_{it} The ratio of real unit labour costs in the euro area over real unit labour costs in the US. Real unit labour costs based on nominal unit labour costs, total economy, deflated with national GDP deflator (1995=100). <u>Source:</u> European Commission (DG ECFIN).



RD _{USt}	Real stock of manufacturing R&D in United States measured as real current expenditure on R&D. Source: NSF, OECD.
RER _{it}	The real bilateral exchange rate as obtained by multiplying the nominal exchange rate expressed in euro area currencies by the ratio of the GDP deflator at home and that in the United States. <u>Source:</u> BIS, IMF.
RI _{it}	Relative long-term real interest rate measured by the ratio of euro area real interest rate over US real interest rate based on the nominal long term interest rate (OECD) and the GDP deflator. Source: OECD.
SFDI _{it}	The real stock of FDI of country i in the US at time t in US dollars is calculated as the cumulative sum of real flows plus the real benchmark stock of FDI in 1980 (deflated by the national GDP deflator). By so doing, the issue of the revaluation effects due to asset price changes is avoided. <u>Source:</u> BEA (www.bea.gov).
SMI _{USt}	US stocks market index in US dollars deflated by the US GDP deflator. Source: Thomson Datastream.



European Central Bank working paper series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int).

- 202 "Aggregate loans to the euro area private sector" by A. Calza, M. Manrique and J. Sousa, January 2003.
- 203 "Myopic loss aversion, disappointment aversion and the equity premium puzzle" by D. Fielding and L. Stracca, January 2003.
- 204 "Asymmetric dynamics in the correlations of global equity and bond returns" by L. Cappiello, R.F. Engle and K. Sheppard, January 2003.
- 205 "Real exchange rate in an inter-temporal n-country-model with incomplete markets" by B. Mercereau, January 2003.
- 206 "Empirical estimates of reaction functions for the euro area" by D. Gerdesmeier and B. Roffia, January 2003.
- 207 "A comprehensive model on the euro overnight rate" by F. R. Würtz, January 2003.
- 208 "Do demographic changes affect risk premiums? Evidence from international data" by A. Ang and A. Maddaloni, January 2003.
- 209 "A framework for collateral risk control determination" by D. Cossin, Z. Huang, D. Aunon-Nerin and F. González, January 2003.
- 210 "Anticipated Ramsey reforms and the uniform taxation principle: the role of international financial markets" by S. Schmitt-Grohé and M. Uribe, January 2003.
- 211 "Self-control and savings" by P. Michel and J.P. Vidal, January 2003.
- 212 "Modelling the implied probability of stock market movements" by E. Glatzer and M. Scheicher, January 2003.
- 213 "Aggregation and euro area Phillips curves" by S. Fabiani and J. Morgan, February 2003.
- 214 "On the selection of forecasting models" by A. Inoue and L. Kilian, February 2003.
- 215 "Budget institutions and fiscal performance in Central and Eastern European countries" by H. Gleich, February 2003.
- 216 "The admission of accession countries to an enlarged monetary union: a tentative assessment" by M. Ca'Zorzi and R. A. De Santis, February 2003.
- 217 "The role of product market regulations in the process of structural change" by J. Messina, March 2003.

- 218 "The zero-interest-rate bound and the role of the exchange rate for monetary policy in Japan" by G. Coenen and V. Wieland, March 2003.
- 219 "Extra-euro area manufacturing import prices and exchange rate pass-through" by B. Anderton, March 2003.
- 220 "The allocation of competencies in an international union: a positive analysis" by M. Ruta, April 2003.
- 221 "Estimating risk premia in money market rates" by A. Durré, S. Evjen and R. Pilegaard, April 2003.
- 222 "Inflation dynamics and subjective expectations in the United States" by K. Adam and M. Padula, April 2003.
- 223 "Optimal monetary policy with imperfect common knowledge" by K. Adam, April 2003.
- 224 "The rise of the yen vis-à-vis the ("synthetic") euro: is it supported by economic fundamentals?" by C. Osbat, R. Rüffer and B. Schnatz, April 2003.
- 225 "Productivity and the ("synthetic") euro-dollar exchange rate" by C. Osbat, F. Vijselaar and B. Schnatz, April 2003.
- 226 "The central banker as a risk manager: quantifying and forecasting inflation risks" by L. Kilian and S. Manganelli, April 2003.
- 227 "Monetary policy in a low pass-through environment" by T. Monacelli, April 2003.
- 228 "Monetary policy shocks a nonfundamental look at the data" by M. Klaeffing, May 2003.
- 229 "How does the ECB target inflation?" by P. Surico, May 2003.
- 230 "The euro area financial system: structure, integration and policy initiatives" by P. Hartmann, A. Maddaloni and S. Manganelli, May 2003.
- 231 "Price stability and monetary policy effectiveness when nominal interest rates are bounded at zero" by G. Coenen, A. Orphanides and V. Wieland, May 2003.
- 232 "Describing the Fed's conduct with Taylor rules: is interest rate smoothing important?" by E. Castelnuovo, May 2003.
- 233 "The natural real rate of interest in the euro area" by N. Giammarioli and N. Valla, May 2003.
- 234 "Unemployment, hysteresis and transition" by M. León-Ledesma and P. McAdam, May 2003.
- 235 "Volatility of interest rates in the euro area: evidence from high frequency data" by N. Cassola and C. Morana, June 2003.

- 236 "Swiss monetary targeting 1974-1996: the role of internal policy analysis" by G. Rich, June 2003.
- 237 "Growth expectations, capital flows and international risk sharing" by O. Castrén, M. Miller and R. Stiegert, June 2003.
- 238 "The impact of monetary union on trade prices" by R. Anderton, R. E. Baldwin and D. Taglioni, June 2003.
- 239 "Temporary shocks and unavoidable transitions to a high-unemployment regime" by W. J. Denhaan, June 2003.
- 240 "Monetary policy transmission in the euro area: any changes after EMU?" by I. Angeloni and M. Ehrmann, July 2003.
- 241 Maintaining price stability under free-floating: a fearless way out of the corner?" by C. Detken and V. Gaspar, July 2003.
- 242 "Public sector efficiency: an international comparison" by A. Afonso, L. Schuknecht and V. Tanzi, July 2003.
- 243 "Pass-through of external shocks to euro area inflation" by E. Hahn, July 2003.
- 244 "How does the ECB allot liquidity in its weekly main refinancing operations? A look at the empirical evidence" by S. Ejerskov, C. Martin Moss and L. Stracca, July 2003.
- 245 "Money and payments: a modern perspective" by C. Holthausen and C. Monnet, July 2003.
- 246 "Public finances and long-term growth in Europe evidence from a panel data analysis" byD. R. de Ávila Torrijos and R. Strauch, July 2003.
- 247 "Forecasting euro area inflation: does aggregating forecasts by HICP component improve forecast accuracy?" by K. Hubrich, August 2003.
- 248 "Exchange rates and fundamentals" by C. Engel and K. D. West, August 2003.
- 249 "Trade advantages and specialisation dynamics in acceding countries" by A. Zaghini, August 2003.
- 250 "Persistence, the transmission mechanism and robust monetary policy" by I. Angeloni, G. Coenen and F. Smets, August 2003.
- 251 "Consumption, habit persistence, imperfect information and the lifetime budget constraint" by A. Willman, August 2003.
- 252 "Interpolation and backdating with a large information set" by E. Angelini, J. Henry and M. Marcellino, August 2003.
- 253 "Bond market inflation expectations and longer-term trends in broad monetary growth and inflation in industrial countries, 1880-2001" by W. G. Dewald, September 2003.

- 254 "Forecasting real GDP: what role for narrow money?" by C. Brand, H.-E. Reimers and F. Seitz, September 2003.
- 255 "Is the demand for euro area M3 stable?" by A. Bruggeman, P. Donati and A. Warne, September 2003.
- 256 "Information acquisition and decision making in committees: a survey" by K. Gerling,H. P. Grüner, A. Kiel and E. Schulte, September 2003.
- 257 "Macroeconomic modelling of monetary policy" by M. Klaeffling, September 2003.
- 258 "Interest rate reaction functions and the Taylor rule in the euro area" by P. Gerlach-Kristen, September 2003.
- 259 "Implicit tax co-ordination under repeated policy interactions" by M. Catenaro and J.-P. Vidal, September 2003.
- 260 "Aggregation-theoretic monetary aggregation over the euro area, when countries are heterogeneous" by W. A. Barnett, September 2003.
- 261 "Why has broad money demand been more stable in the euro area than in other economies? A literature review" by A. Calza and J. Sousa, September 2003.
- 262 "Indeterminacy of rational expectations equilibria in sequential financial markets" by P. Donati, September 2003.
- 263 "Measuring contagion with a Bayesian, time-varying coefficient model" by M. Ciccarelli and A. Rebucci, September 2003.
- 264 "A monthly monetary model with banking intermediation for the euro area" by A. Bruggeman and M. Donnay, September 2003.
- 265 "New Keynesian Phillips Curves: a reassessment using euro area data" by P. McAdam and A. Willman, September 2003.
- 266 "Finance and growth in the EU: new evidence from the liberalisation and harmonisation of the banking industry" by D. Romero de Ávila, September 2003.
- 267 "Comparing economic dynamics in the EU and CEE accession countries" by R. Süppel, September 2003.
- 268 "The output composition puzzle: a difference in the monetary transmission mechanism in the euro area and the US" by I. Angeloni, A. K. Kashyap, B. Mojon and D. Terlizzese, September 2003.
- 269 "Zero lower bound: is it a problem with the euro area?" by G. Coenen, September 2003.
- 270 "Downward nominal wage rigidity and the long-run Phillips curve: simulation-based evidence for the euro area" by G. Coenen, September 2003.
- 271 "Indeterminacy and search theory" by N. Giammarioli, September 2003.

- 272 "Inflation targets and the liquidity trap" by M. Klaeffling and V. López Pérez, September 2003.
- 273 "Definition of price stability, range and point inflation targets: the anchoring of long-term inflation expectations" by E. Castelnuovo, S. Nicoletti-Altimari and D. Rodriguez-Palenzuela, September 2003.
- 274 "Interpreting implied risk neutral densities: the role of risk premia" by P. Hördahl and D. Vestin, September 2003.
- 275 "Identifying the monetary transmission mechanism using structural breaks" by A. Beyer and R. Farmer, September 2003.
- 276 "Short-term estimates of euro area real GDP by means of monthly data" by G. Rünstler, September 2003.
- 277 "On the indeterminacy of determinacy and indeterminacy" by A. Beyer and R. Farmer, September 2003.
- 278 "Relevant economic issues concerning the optimal rate of inflation" by D. R. Palenzuela, G. Camba-Méndez and J. Á. García, September 2003.
- 279 "Designing targeting rules for international monetary policy cooperation" by G. Benigno and P. Benigno, October 2003.
- 280 "Inflation, factor substitution and growth" by R. Klump, October 2003.
- 281 "Identifying fiscal shocks and policy regimes in OECD countries" by G. de Arcangelis and S. Lamartina, October 2003.
- 282 "Optimal dynamic risk sharing when enforcement is a decision variable" by T. V. Koeppl, October 2003.
- 283 "US, Japan and the euro area: comparing business-cycle features" by P. McAdam, November 2003.
- 284 "The credibility of the monetary policy 'free lunch" by J. Yetman, November 2003.
- 285 "Government deficits, wealth effects and the price level in an optimizing model" by B. Annicchiarico, November 2003.
- 286 "Country and sector-specific spillover effects in the euro area, the United States and Japan" by B. Kaltenhaeuser, November 2003.
- 287 "Consumer inflation expectations in Poland" by T. Łyziak, November 2003.
- 288 "Implementing optimal control cointegrated I(1) structural VAR models" by F. V. Monti, November 2003.
- 289 "Monetary and fiscal interactions in open economies" by G. Lombardo and A. Sutherland, November 2003.

- 290 "Inflation persistence and robust monetary policy design" by G. Coenen, November 2003.
- 291 "Measuring the time-inconsitency of US monetary policy" by P. Surico, November 2003.
- 292 "Bank mergers, competition and liquidity" by E. Carletti, P. Hartmann and G. Spagnolo, November 2003.
- 293 "Committees and special interests" by M. Felgenhauer and H. P. Grüner, November 2003.
- 294 "Does the yield spread predict recessions in the euro area?" by F. Moneta, December 2003.
- 295 "Optimal allotment policy in the eurosystem's main refinancing operations?" by C. Ewerhart, N. Cassola, S. Ejerskov and N. Valla, December 2003.
- 296 "Monetary policy analysis in a small open economy using bayesian cointegrated structural VARs?" by M. Villani and A. Warne, December 2003.
- 297 "Measurement of contagion in banks' equity prices" by R. Gropp and G. Moerman, December 2003.
- 298 "The lender of last resort: a 21st century approach" by X. Freixas, B. M. Parigi and J.-C. Rochet, December 2003.
- 299 "Import prices and pricing-to-market effects in the euro area" by T. Warmedinger, January 2004.
- 300 "Developing statistical indicators of the integration of the euro area banking system" by M. Manna, January 2004.
- 301 "Inflation and relative price asymmetry" by A. Rátfai, January 2004.
- 302 "Deposit insurance, moral hazard and market monitoring" by R. Gropp and J. Vesala, February 2004.
- 303 "Fiscal policy events and interest rate swap spreads: evidence from the EU" by A. Afonso and R. Strauch, February 2004.
- 304 "Equilibrium unemployment, job flows and inflation dynamics" by A. Trigari, February 2004.
- 305 "A structural common factor approach to core inflation estimation and forecasting" by C. Morana, February 2004.
- 306 "A markup model of inflation for the euro area" by C. Bowdler and E. S. Jansen, February 2004.
- 307 "Budgetary forecasts in Europe the track record of stability and convergence programmes" by R. Strauch, M. Hallerberg and J. von Hagen, February 2004.
- 308 "International risk-sharing and the transmission of productivity shocks" by G. Corsetti, L. Dedola and S. Leduc, February 2004.
- 309 "Monetary policy shocks in the euro area and global liquidity spillovers" by J. Sousa and A. Zaghini, February 2004.
- 310 "International equity flows and returns: A quantitative equilibrium approach" by R. Albuquerque,G. H. Bauer and M. Schneider, February 2004.
- 311 "Current account dynamics in OECD and EU acceding countries an intertemporal approach" by M. Bussière, M. Fratzscher and G. Müller, February 2004.

- 312 "Similarities and convergence in G-7 cycles" by F. Canova, M. Ciccarelli and E. Ortega, February 2004.
- 313 "The high-yield segment of the corporate bond market: a diffusion modelling approach for the United States, the United Kingdom and the euro area" by G. de Bondt and D. Marqués, February 2004.
- 314 "Exchange rate risks and asset prices in a small open economy" by A. Derviz, March 2004.
- 315 "Option-implied asymmetries in bond market expectations around monetary policy actions of the ECB" by S. Vähämaa, March 2004.
- 316 "Cooperation in international banking supervision" by C. Holthausen and T. Rønde, March 2004.
- 317 "Fiscal policy and inflation volatility" by P. C. Rother, March 2004.
- 318 "Gross job flows and institutions in Europe" by R. Gómez-Salvador, J. Messina and G. Vallanti, March 2004.
- 319 "Risk sharing through financial markets with endogenous enforcement of trades" by T. V. Köppl, March 2004.
- 320 "Institutions and service employment: a panel study for OECD countries" by J. Messina, March 2004.
- 321 "Frequency domain principal components estimation of fractionally cointegrated processes" by C. Morana, March 2004.
- 322 "Modelling inflation in the euro area" by E. S. Jansen, March 2004.
- 323 "On the indeterminacy of New-Keynesian economics" by A. Beyer and R. E. A. Farmer, March 2004.
- 324 "Fundamentals and joint currency crises" by P. Hartmann, S. Straetmans and C. G. de Vries, March 2004.
- 325 "What are the spill-overs from fiscal shocks in Europe? An empirical analysis" by M. Giuliodori and R. Beetsma, March 2004.
- 326 "The great depression and the Friedman-Schwartz hypothesis" by L. Christiano, R. Motto and M. Rostagno, March 2004.
- 327 "Diversification in euro area stock markets: country versus industry" by G. A. Moerman, April 2004.
- 328 "Non-fundamental exchange rate volatility and welfare" by R. Straub and I. Tchakarov, April 2004.
- 329 "On the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States: the knowledge-capital-Tobin's Q framework, by R. A. De Santis, R. Anderton and A. Hijzen, April 2004.